STUDENT'S VIEW OF PHYSICAL EXERCISE ON STRESS COPING AND PSYCHOLOGICAL WELLBEING: A QUALITATIVE STUDY

Student's view of physical exercise on psychological wellbeing and stress coping: a

qualitative study

IWONA WUJTOWICZ

17385343

BA (Hons) Psychology

Submission of Thesis and Dissertation

National College of Ireland Research Students Declaration Form (Thesis/Author Declaration Form)

Name: Iwona Wujtowicz Student Number: 17385343

Degree for which thesis is submitted: BA (Hons) Psychology

Material submitted for award

- (a) I declare that the work has been composed by myself.
- (b) I declare that all verbatim extracts contained in the thesis have been distinguished by quotation marks and the sources of information specifically acknowledged.
- (c) My thesis will be included in electronic format in the College Institutional Repository TRAP (thesis reports and projects)
- (d) *Either* *I declare that no material contained in the thesis has been used in any other submission for an academic award.

Or *I declare that the following material contained in the thesis formed part of a submission for the award of

(State the award and the awarding b	ody and list the material below)
Signature of research student:	
Date:	

Submission of Thesis to Norma Smurfit Library, National College of Ireland

Student number: 17385343

Student name: Iwona Wujtowicz

School: Business Course: Psychology
Degree to be awarded: Bachelor of Arts Honours Degree
Title of Thesis: Student's view of physical exercise on psychological wellbeing and stress coping: a qualitative study
One hard bound copy of your thesis will be lodged in the Norma Smurfit Library and will be available for consultation. The electronic copy will be accessible in TRAP (http://trap.ncirl.ie/), the National College of Ireland's Institutional Repository. In accordance with normal academic library practice all theses lodged in the National College of Ireland Institutional Repository (TRAP) are made available on open access.
I agree to a hard bound copy of my thesis being available for consultation in the library. I also agree to an electronic copy of my thesis being made publicly available on the National College of Ireland's Institutional Repository TRAP.
Signature of Candidate:
For completion by the School: The aforementioned thesis was received by Date:
This signed form must be appended to all hard bound and electronic copies of your thesis submitted to your school

Acknowledgements

I would like to thank my supervisor, Dr Conor Nolan who believed in me and was continuously guiding and supporting me in every problem that occurred during the writing of this project. I also really appreciate his enthusiastic encouragement. I would like to thank my participants for their contribution. Without you all it would not have been possible for me to complete my thesis. I wish to acknowledge the support and great love of my parents and my brother who supported and encouraged me in this very intense academic year. Special thanks goes to my friend Sabrina and Victoria for their unconditional continuous support and encouragement, it means a lot to me. I would also like to thank my boyfriend Leon, without his support and love I could not have made it until the end.

Abstract

Many college students often experience psychological distress including high levels of stress. Physical exercise is a common coping strategy often used by students to manage stress and improve psychological wellbeing. A qualitative research was carried out to draw findings that are based on college student's personal experiences concerning the effect of physical exercise on psychological well-being and stress coping. Nine college students in Dublin took part in semi structured interviews which contained 11 open ended questions. The results contained two main themes which were improved psychological wellbeing and reduced psychological distress. The improved psychological wellbeing theme contained nine subthemes: increased confidence, boost of energy, a sense of accomplishment, alone time, higher productivity, improved memory and thinking skills, life satisfaction, improved strength and sleep. The reduced psychological distress theme contained three subthemes which were reduction of stress, reduction of anxiety and depression and lastly reduced fear of being ill.

Contents

Introduction	1
Rational and Research Aims	5
Methods	7
Design	7
Participants	7
Materials	7
Procedure	8
Results	9
1)Improved psychological wellbeing	9
2)Reduced psychological distress	14
Discussion	17
Limitations	20
Conclusion	21
References	22
Appendix 1	26
Appendix 2	27

Introduction

The psychological well-being and mental health of college students is an area of expanding concern worldwide. Mental health refers to a state of well-being in which a person figures out their own potential, can deal with the normal stresses of life and is able to work productively (World Health Organisation [WHO], 2005). This definition proposes that mental health is essential to well-being and to being able to have a functional life as a person within the community. Psychological well-being is related to self-esteem, cognitive function, personality, mood, happiness, anxiety, stress and depression (Medvedev & Landhuis, 2018).

Starting college can be an exciting but also challenging time. College students are at risk of developing mental health problems as they face a lot of difficulties (Stanley & Manthorpe, 2001), which include academic overloads, inadequate time to study, exams, low or no motivation, fear of failure and family expectations (Bataineh, 2013). Ross and colleagues (1999) also support the previous findings and further showed that change in sleep and eating habits were also common stressors among students. Such situations can be seen by students as threatening and therefore, can lead to stress. Previous research has found that females are more likely to experience anxiety and stress during college than males (Bayram & Bilgel, 2008). Mental health problems begin in the first year of university and increase as students' progress in their studies as they are presented with more intense difficulties (Dogan, 2012).

Stress is one of the main factors that can affect an individual's mental health (Torres et al., 2017). Stress refers to a person's physical and psychological reaction to an event or object which is appraised as a threat (Lazarus & Folkman, 1984). Such threats can include

excessive pressure or demands placed on individuals (Campbell, 2006). Stress can negatively affect educational attainment, health development, social relationships, and quality of an individual's life (Bayram & Bilgel, 2008). Stress can sometimes be beneficial and have a positive effect on an individual's life (Halkos & Bousinakis, 2010). However, if not well managed it can have negative consequences, especially in academic institutions (Khan, Lanin, & Ahmad, 2015) where it can negatively impact health, emotional state and academic performance (Misra & McKean, 2000). Stress is a particularly important issue in academic settings, as most college students are at an age in which stress disorders are more common (Chao, 2012). Stress can also affect the ability to adjust to various situations and can lead to depression (Steenkamp et al., 2017, Gammon & Morgan-Samuel, 2005). Ibrahim and colleagues (2013) reported that depression rates among students are a lot higher than in the general population.

It is important to improve mental health well-being and reduce stress levels in college students as it can affect the individual's physical, emotional, cognitive and interpersonal functioning (Kitzrow, 2009). Coping is one mechanism that can be used to positively respond to adversity and to distress (Carver et al., 2010). As such, coping enables individuals to decrease, limit, or tolerate stress and can also prevent mental illness (Gustems-Carnicer & Calderón, 2013; Jones & Johnston, 2000). Furthermore, coping has been shown to positively affect mental health, independent of the degree of mental health symptoms and stress (Aldwin & Revenson, 1987). For individuals in particularly adverse situations, such as spousal caregiver's for individuals with Alzheimer's disease, coping strategies are significantly associated with a positive mood (Pruchno & Resch, 1989). Various interventions have been developed with the aim of improving coping skills and consequently reducing negative mental health symptoms. Psychoeducational training interventions which

focus on improving coping skills have been shown to result in significantly improved well-being in cancer patients (Edgar, Rosberger, & Collet, 2001) and in reduced levels of stress and depression in low-income adults (Wadsworth et al., 2011). An association has been found between inactivity and depression (Camacho et al., 1991).

Problem-focused coping and emotion-focused coping are the two main types of coping strategies (Herman & Tetrick, 2009). The aim of problem-focused coping is to resolve the stressful situation or alter the source of the stress. Emotion-focused coping aims to reduce negative emotional responses that occur due to exposure to stressors. It has been suggested that emotion-focused coping is less effective than problem-focused coping as emotion-focused coping has been linked with psychological distress (Matud, 2004).

Another type of an advantageous coping strategy often used is physical exercise (Rostad & Long, 1996) which is used by some individuals to manage stress and promote psychological well-being (Ingledew & McDonagh, 1998). Physical exercise is a a subset of physical activities that are planned and purposeful attempts with the aim to improve health and well-being (Edwards, 2006). Numerous studies have shown that physical exercise has many health benefits such as reduces the risk of breast cancer (Hirose, et al., 2003), reduces the risk of Alzheimer's disease (Paillard, 2015), coronary heart disease Paffenbarger (1984), etc. Booth and colleagues (2000) have found that inactivity has been connected to at least 17 conditions which most are chronic diseases or they are considered to be risk factors for chronic diseases. These benefits have been acknowledged since ancient times by different philosophers such as Hippocrates (MCKinney et al., 2016). Physical exercise not only improves physical health, but it is also beneficial for psychological wellbeing. Physical exercise is one of the most common and easily accessible ways to overcome stress (Happell

et al., 2013) and can be helpful in reducing mental disorders and in increasing positive emotions such as happiness (Berger et al., 1992; Khazaee-Pool, 2015). A number of studies have been carried out to investigate the effectiveness of physical exercise on reducing stress, depression and anxiety. Kalak and colleagues (2012) have found that those who perform daily morning running have improved quality of sleep than those who do not physically exercise. Research has shown that exercising for 8 to 12 weeks had a positive effect on not only promoting physical fitness, but also mental health and body composition in college students (Miller & Hoffman, 2009; Van Dyck et al., 2015). Rasmussen and Laumann, 2013 found that physical exercise improves self-esteem and cognition in children and adolescents. Physical exercise has been consistently associated with reduced levels of anxiety, depression, stress, tension, anger, and tiredness (Norris et al., 1992; Salmon, 2001; Thayer, 1987; Tyson et al., 2010; Woo et al., 2009). Physical exercise has been shown to have positive effects on health and satisfaction with life (Razon & Sachs, 2017; Standage et al., 2012). Plante and colleagues (2006) carried out a study in which it was found that physical exercise resulted in greater energy levels, however they only focused on psychology college students, whereas students studying different courses could experience a different result. Students identified the following benefits of physical exercise: improved health, physical performance, psychological outlook and improved quality of life (Nolan, Sandada, & Surujlal, 2011). Physical exercise improves mental and physical well-being (Raedeke, 2007). Physical activity recommendations/guidelines for adults are minimum 30 minutes daily of moderate intensity activity, five days a week (Elsawy & Higgins, 2010).

Rationale and Research Aims

Numerous studies have been carried out to demonstrate the effect physical exercise has on stress coping and psychological wellbeing (De Moor, et al 2006; Stubbe, et al 2007) however not much research has been carried out on the factors that explain the benefits of physical exercise for well-being and stress coping in Irish college students, therefore it is important to carry out qualitative research in order to find out in-depth information concerning how regular physical exercise contributes to being able to effectively cope with stress and improve psychological wellbeing in college students in Ireland. The aim of this study is to also provide an up to date findings about the benefits physical exercise has on psychological wellbeing and stress coping as it has been 6 years ago when a similar study has been carried out in USA students (Kim & McKenzie, 2014), The qualitative research will help to access participant's thoughts and feelings related to physical exercise, psychological wellbeing and stress coping. Qualitative research will assist the researcher with understanding how and why such behaviours happen whereas quantitative research methods are helpful in determining the number of people undertaking specific behaviours, etc.

The main objective of this study is to understand the psychological factors in which could explain the beneficial effects of exercise on student's psychological well-being and stress coping. The study aims to explore this question in college students as findings from existing literature shows that they are vulnerable to stress and mental health issues (Stanley & Manthorpe, 2001). This qualitative research has been investigated in the USA (Kim & McKenzie, 2014) however it has not yet been investigated in an Irish context. Irish students differ from their US counterparts in several areas (Teahan, 1987). As such, it is not clear whether the results of previous international students will similarly apply to Irish college students. Therefore, this topic still needs more attention and the intention of this study is to

fill a gap in the literature as further research needs to be carried out to better understand the benefits of regular physical exercise on student's psychological wellbeing in an Irish context.

While quantitative studies show that physical exercise interventions reduce stress and improve psychological wellbeing, qualitative research could improve the design of such interventions by addressing the main needs and issues identified by participants in qualitative studies. This current study may also guide colleges to improve the college environment and it is also important for intervention efforts encouraging a more active lifestyles for those who do not exercise. The findings may also motivate those who are inactive to start engaging in physical exercise due to the benefits (both physical and mentally).

Methods

Design

Qualitative design, questions devised by researcher in line with the topic and existing research. Phenomenological research was carried out with the purpose to investigate student's views of physical exercise on psychological well-being and stress coping. This phenomenological research aims to draw findings that are based on college student's personal experiences concerning the benefits of physical exercise on psychological well-being and stress coping.

Participants

Nine participants (Seven females, two males, 18-30 years old, the average age 22.3) who were interested in this research and satisfied the criteria (a college student, over 18 years of age, and regular exercisers, minimum 150 minutes a week) were interviewed using semi-structured, face to face interviews. All participants were undergraduate students. All participants attended college in Dublin. Four participants engaged in aerobic exercise which included jogging and cycling and five participants engaged in anareboic exercise which involved weight lifting.

Materials

Interview schedule created by researcher, based on topic and literature, contained 11 semi structured, open ended questions which allow the researcher to find out the factors that explain the benefits of physical exercise for well-being and stress coping in depth as they allow the participant to be flexible in their answers. Example of questions that were asked to the participants were such as 'do you think that exercise provides a positive aspect in developing and maintaining your self-esteem?', 'What emotions do you feel if you don't

exercise for prolonged period of time?' Pilot study was carried out for clarity. The interview was recorded using a tape recorder and transcribed using a laptop.

Procedure

After gaining approval from the Psychology Research Ethics Committee, posters were posted on social media pages (facebook, instagram) and handed out to students in National College of Ireland. Students who expressed an interest in this research and satisfied the criteria received a information sheet and if they were still interested an interview was arranged. The interviews took place in a private room in National College of Ireland. At the interview participants received a consent form. Additional questions were answered by the researcher before the interview started such as participant's age. A semi studctured, face to face interviews were conducted. The interviews contained 11 questions. The interviews were tape recorded and lasted for approximately 15 minutes which gave participants enough time to expand on any matters they chose. The interviews were then transcripted as soon as possible after they were completed by the interviewer and and the replies (protocols) were analysed. The interviews took place over 5 week period in 2020. Thematic analysis (Braun & Clarke, 2006) was used in this research.

Results

Table 1. Emergent themes and sub-themes based on analysis of open-ended responses

Theme	Subtheme
Improved psychological wellbeing	Increased confidence
	Boost of energy
	A sense of accomplishment
	Alone time
	Higher productivity
	Improved memory ad thinking skills
	Life satisfaction.
	Building strength
	Sleep
Reduced psychological distress	Reduction of stress
	Reduction of anxiety and depression Re-
	duced fear of being ill

The two main comprehensive themes were improved psychological wellbeing and reduced psychological distress. The improved psychological wellbeing contained nine sub themes which were increased confidence, boost of energy, a sense of accomplishment, alone time, higher productivity, improved memory and thinking skills, life satisfaction, building strength, sleep. The reduced psychological distress theme contained 3 subthemes which were reduction of stress and reduction of anxiety and depression and reduced fear of being ill.

1) Improved psychological wellbeing

Subthemes:

1) Increased Confidence

All nine participants answered that physical exercise helps them feel more confident.

Most of the participants answered that physical changes they see in their body make them feel more confident. One participant who engaged in weightlifting replied:

"Seeing my body changing for the better makes me feel good. I used to be very shy and have not confident at all but since I started going to the gym and doing weight lifting 2 years ago

and I started losing body fat and gaining muscle mass which now makes me feel good about myself my confidence levels increased."

Setting fitness goals and working towards them also seems as an effective way to build confidence. Another participant who engages in weightlifting answered:

'For me setting goals and working towards them and achieving them gives me a sense of direction and boosts my confidence. 2 years ago, I set myself a goal to lose 20kg because I didn't feel good about myself, now I have lost over 20 kg and I feel so much better about myself. For me setting fitness goals and working towards them makes me mentally and physically strong.'

Physical exercise also provides many mental and emotional benefits which also add to increased confidence. One participant who has been engaging in jogging replied:

Exercise makes me more confident because it is good for my mental health so if I was to stop exercising tomorrow, I think my psychological wellbeing would be negatively affected.

Exercise is my space to overcome bad thoughts. It just makes me feel better so I cannot imagine my life not exercising.

2) Boost of energy

Eight participants have reported a boost of energy after physical exercise. One participant who has been engaging in weightlifting reported a lack of energy if he does not exercise for a prolonged period of time:

'When I don't exercise for a prolonged period of time I just feel crap! I lack energy to do anything. I start eating junk food to make myself feel happy and I feel lazy.'

Another participant who regularly engages in spin classes answered:

'I am not able to function without physical exercise. It just does wonders, it gives me so much energy I always feel like I could conquer the world after I finish exercising.'

Many participants also mentioned that exercise helps them sleep better which may also add to the boost of energy they experience. One participant who likes running said:

'For me self-care starts with physical exercise as it helps me sleep better and eat more healthy which then gives me more energy.'

3) A sense of accomplishment

Six participants have answered that exercise helps them feel accomplished which is a very important part of feeling good and being proud of what you do. One of the participants has answered:

'I think physical exercise gives me a feeling of being in control. Seeing your body change through your efforts makes you feel accomplished because you know you have the ability to change your body.'

Exercise can also make an individual feel that they are doing something productive and not wasting time. One participant who engages in weightlifting replied:

'I feel better when I exercise because it gives me a sense of accomplishment that you did something good for yourself. It feels like I am not wasting time because I am actually leaving the house and going gym and doing something good for myself.'

Another participant who engaged in swimming also provided a similar answer:

'After every workout I feel proud of myself and accomplished. It is such a good feeling. It gives me an adrenaline rush which makes me feel like I can achieve anything. I love pushing myself more and more because it makes me feel good knowing that I am becoming stronger.'

4) Alone time

Eight participants reported that physical exercise is their alone time where they can focus only on themselves which then improves their psychological wellbeing. One participant who engaged in running answered:

'Running is me time. I put my headphones on and forget about the rest of the world and focus on myself. It does wonders for my mental health. Whenever I worry about college or money or my job I go running and it is so therapeutic for me.'

Another participant who engages in aerobic exercise answered:

'I love exercising on my own and if I have a choice to do it alone or with a friend I always pick doing it alone because it is just an hour a day that I spend to work on myself. It is my time and I think everyone should do that because we often spend time looking after other people and we forget to look after ourselves and that can be mentally exhausting when that does happen. So spending time by yourself while exercising is good.'

5) Higher productivity

Seven participants have answered that physical exercise increases productivity. One participant who regularly performs weightlifting has answered:

'Physical exercise helps me schedule and commit to other things in life also. When you have a scheduled exercise routine you feel like you are able to schedule something and stick to it so it changed my views on other task in my day-to-day life.'

Physical exercise also creates a routine which then increases productivity. Another individual who regularly goes to the gym answered:

'Having a scheduled exercise routine helps me ensure that I get my workouts done and it allows me to be consistent and that also helps with other daily tasks. When I schedule my workouts, they become a routine just like other things in life such as brushing my teeth.'

6) Improved memory and thinking skills

Seven participants have answered that exercising improves their memory and boosts thinking skills. Exercise leaves individuals with a clear mind, therefore, leads to improved memory and improved thinking skills.

One participant that regularly engages in weight lifting and cardio exercise has replied:

'I have noticed that physical exercise definitely improves my memory, helps me learn faster and even makes me a better reader.'

Another participant who engages in jogging answered:

'It is crazy how much exercise improves my memory, thinking, reasoning. I find it easier to come up with solutions to any problems that I have. I always come back home with a new mindset'

7) Life satisfaction

All nine participants have answered that they were more satisfied with life in general when they exercised than when they didn't.

One participant who engaged in jogging answered:

'I am so much more satisfied with life when I frequently exercise. It is crazy that one habit can make such a positive impact on your life. I tell my friends who do not exercise to try it as they don't seem to be satisfied as much with life as me and my other friends who regularly perform physical exercise'.

Another participant whose favourite physical exercise was weightlifting said:

'Nothing makes me feel better than exercising. It helps me relax, worry less and just in general I feel amazing and I am so much happier with my life when I do exercise. Exercise allows me to not only take my mind off things but I am also doing something good for my body which makes me feel so happy.'

8) Building strength

Four participants have responded that they gained physical strength after exercising regularly.

One participant who engages in weightlifting five times a week has answered:

'Whenever I don't feel good about myself, I go to the gym and I exercise and it always makes me feel cantered again and makes me feel strong. It is crazy how we can just work on our bodies and make them stronger. When I first started exercising, I could barely lift any weights and the strength has now dramatically improved which makes me feel really good about myself'.

Another participant who also regularly does weightlifting provided a similar answer: 'Weightlifting makes me feel strong and powerful. I exercise for the way it makes me feel... empowered and strong. Who wouldn't want to feel like that all the time?'

9) Sleep

Eight participants have reported that they sleep better after engaging in a physical exercise.

One participant who regularly engages in running has answered:

'Selfcare is very important to me and for me selfcare starts with physical exercise. I have noticed that it helps me sleep better. I haven't had any troubles sleeping since I started exercising, whereas before I did I used to stay awake till very late hours as I just couldn't sleep for some reason.'

Another participant who also regularly performs running said:

'Running helps me sleep better but I found that I have to do it close to bedtime. When I come home after running and finally get into bed I sleep like a new born baby for hours.'

2) Reduced psychological distress

Subthemes:

1) Reduction of stress

All nine participants mentioned that physical exercise helps them feel less stressed and improve their quality of life. Most participants answered that physical exercise helps them feel less stressed as it takes their mind off their worries. One participant who engaged in cycling answered:

'Being a college student, I am often exhausted after studying for long hours and stressing about my future career so for me exercise is a stress reliever. It takes my mind off my worries, so I make sure to still exercise frequently during stressful times like college time especially weeks of college exams'

Physical exercise can also help individuals less stressed as they are able to come up with solutions to their problems during exercising. One participant who regularly performs weightlifting answered:

'I still prioritise exercise frequently during time in college because it makes me feel better and it clears my head. When I spend an hour a day in the gym it helps me come up with solutions to my challenges for that day. Even one session of exercise can make you feel so much better and less stressed.'

Another participant who regularly engages in jogging answered:

'I feel less stressed after I exercise. Being a college student and also having a part time job is not easy and can be quite challenging at times and make me feel anxious and stressed but I find that when I do go to the gym and get my workout in I feel way better and less stressed.'

2) Reduced anxiety and depression

Seven participants reported that they often experience anxiety during college time due to exams or presentations. They also reported that they use physical exercise as a way to help manage anxiety. One participant who participates in weightlifting reported:

'Exercise helped with my anxiety in ways I never dreamed possible. I used to get the worst anxiety before exams but since I have started exercising and I get a workout in the morning of my exam I noticed a huge difference.'

Another participant who has regularly engaged in running answered:

'When I don't exercise my overall mood is more pessimistic. I feel stressed, irritated and it really shows in my anxiety, so personally I must exercise, not only because I love doing it but because it does so many amazing things for my brain.'

One participant who regularly engages in Zumba dance classes has answered:

'My life has changed dramatically since I started exercising. I used to suffer from depression and when I started exercising my mental health has improved. I feel great when I am moving. Knowing that exercise improves my heart and mind is a great feeling.'

3) Reduced fear of being ill

Five participants have answered that exercise makes them worry less about being ill and developing and/or dying from chronic diseases. One participant who regularly performs weightlifting exercise said:

'I strongly believe that physical exercise helps to prevent disease and it is one of the main reasons why I do exercise. I read an article where it said that lack of exercise kills more people than obesity and that lack of exercise can lead to an early death, so I stay active because I don't worry about death and illness as much.'

Another participant who regularly engages in jogging said:

'Doing what I can to not get ill and to prevent diseases. It is why I get up early in the morning and go workout, I just worry less about getting sick.

Discussion

The aim of this study was to explore in detail the psychological factors in which could explain the beneficial effects of exercise on student's psychological well-being and stress coping. There has been a lack of qualitative research in this area in Irish student population. Many previous studies have focused on the psychological effects physical exercise has on well-being and stress coping in children or adolescents or they have focused on one specific group i.e. a group of participants studying the same course. (Plante, et al 2006). It is important to note that students studying different college courses may experience different stressors and challenges. Therefore, the aim of this research was to fill the gap and interview Irish college students studying different courses.

The results were divided into two main themes which were improved psychological wellbeing and reduced psychological distress.

Most Irish college students face many difficulties daily which could lead to stress and mental illness. The nine interviews that were conducted showed high levels of agreement with the existing literature. Bataineh (2013), Ross and colleagues (1999) have reported that the common stressors college students experience include academic overloads, inadequate time to study, exams, low or no motivation, fear of failure, family expectations, change in sleep and eating habits. The current study supports these findings and further showed that the most common stressors in Irish college students was related to studying for long hours and future career. The current study supports findings from a study by Berger and colleagues (1992) which showed that physical exercise increases positive emotions. All nine participants reported that physical exercise seems to increase positive emotions such as happiness and improves life satisfaction. The participants have mentioned that physical exercise makes them feel happy straight away and the effect lasts for a good while after. Standage and colleagues

(2012) who have reported that physical exercise positive effects on health and satisfaction with life. The participants in the current study have reported that they are more satisfied with life when they do exercise. It can be seen that physical exercise contributes to greater life satisfaction among college students who regularly exercise. Feeling satisfied with life is very important for college students as they are vulnerable to many mental health issues and stress as it can contribute to better quality of life. Therefore, it can be said that physical exercise improves positive emotions. Study carried out by Plante and colleagues (2006) found that physical exercise resulted in greater energy levels, however they focused specifically on psychology students. The current study also supports previous findings and further showed boost of energy not only in psychology student, but also in students studying marketing, business, computing and retail management. The current study has also found that all individuals who engage in regular physical exercise are more satisfied with their lives than their non-active friends which supports findings from study by Razon and Sachs (2017). The current study has also found that physical exercise improved student's confidence which supports findings by Rasmussen and Laumann (2013) however they focused on healthy children and adolescents and not college students. Increased self-esteem makes individuals feel more comfortable within themselves which leads to improved psychological wellbeing. This study has also found that college students viewed physical exercise as alone time where they could focus on themselves and clear their mind. This has also resulted in improved psychological wellbeing. This study has further found that physical exercise increased student's productivity as it made them feel that they had control over their life which also contributes to improved psychological wellbeing. The study has further found that some participants who were regularly engaging in physical exercise reported a sense of accomplishment as they felt they have achieved something great. Improved memory and improved thinking skills is another benefit that has been reported by seven participants which

further had a positive benefit on their psychological wellbeing. Another benefit is improved physical strength. Building strength is very important for psychological wellbeing as it results in feeling more confident within yourself and confident in the ability to perform daily tasks. Improved sleep quality is also another psychological benefit participant's experience when they exercise regularly. It can be said that physical exercise is a non-pharmacological strategy for improving quality of sleep. The participants have reported that they fall asleep faster after exercising and sleep for a longer period of time than if they weren't exercising. The results partially support findings by Kalak and colleagues (2012) as they have found that running daily in the mornings for 3 weeks resulted in improved sleep and psychological functioning. The current study found that running in the evenings also leads to improved sleep.

Norris and colleagues (1992); Salmon (2001); Thayer (1987); Tyson and colleagues (2010); Woo and colleagues (2009) reported that physical exercise has been associated with reduced levels of anxiety, depression, stress, tension, anger, and tiredness. The current study also supports previous findings as participants in the current study reported that they often experience anxiety during college time due to exams or presentations and that they also use physical exercise to help manage anxiety which has resulted in reduced psychological distress. One participant has answered that exercise eases symptoms of depression. This also supports the previous research that physical exercise reduces depression and improves psychological wellbeing (Norris et al., 1992). Torres and colleagues have found that stress is one of the main factors that affects individual's mental health and the findings from this study also support that statement. Stress is a very common feature of life for many individuals, especially college students. The participants in the study have all reported that they experience high levels of stress during college time and they use physical exercise as a coping strategy. Stress can often have a negative impact on quality of life, therefore it is important to find ways to cope with it. Regular physical exercise seems to be a very common

way to reduce stress which supports fidings by Ingledew and McDonagh, (1998). All participants have replied that they experienced a reduction of stress after performing exercise and five participants have mentioned that their college friends that are not physically active seem to experience high levels of stress and find it difficult to cope with stress. One participant has replied that even a single session can reduce stress. Student's often use physical exercise to cope with stress which also results in reduced psychological distress. The current study has additionally found that students often worry about getting ill due to being inactive and it had been found that those who regularly engage in physical exercise experience reduced fear of being ill and suffering from chronic diseases as they believe physical exercise is good not only for their mind but body.

Limitations

The participants that took part in this study are all students in a large university, however they only represent a sample from a much bigger population of student across the country. Even though the participants were studying different courses which allowed to broaden the research, it should be done with a bigger number of participants from different colleges as having a bigger group with a different background would let the participant to strengthen the research. Another limitation that can be seen in this study is the unequal distribution of male and female participants. Seven females and two males took part in this research. Previous research has shown that females are more likely to experience stress during college (Bayram & Bilgel, 2008). Further research needs to be carried out recruiting more males to make the sample proportionately balanced as it will help to better understand the reasons individual participate in physical exercise and the benefits it has on psychological wellbeing and stress coping in both males and females. Another limitation is that all the participants engaged in different forms of physical exercise such as weightlifting, jogging, zumba, etc. meaning the different types of physical exercise may have different effects of

psychological wellbeing and stress coping. Further research needs to be carried out focusing on one specific form of physical exercise.

Conclusion

This current study explored the in-depth information regarding the psychological factors in which could explain the beneficial effects of exercise on student's psychological well-being and stress coping. As a similar research has already been investigated in USA students (Kim & McKenzie, 2014) the aim of this current study was to investigate the research question in Irish college students as they differ from USA students in many ways. The current study showed high levels of agreement with the existing literature and the findings were similar to a study carried out by Kim & McKenzie (2014). The results have been divided into two main themes: improved psychological wellbeing with nine subthemes and reduced psychological distress with three subthemes. Irish college students experienced similar psychological benefits of physical exercise as USA students, but the current study has reported further benefits such as alone time, improved memory and thinking skills, improved strength and reduced fear of being ill. All the benefits contribute to improved psychological wellbeing.

References

- Achour, M., Nor, M. R. M., Amel, B., Seman, H. M. B., & MohdYusoff, M. Y. Z. (2017).

 Religious commitment and its relation to happiness among Muslim students: The educational level as moderator. *Journal of religion and health*, *56*(5), 1870-1889.
- Anshel, M.H. (1996). Effect of chronic aerobic exercise and progressive relaxation on motor performance and affect. Behavioral Medicine, 21(4), 186–197.
- Bataineh, M. Z. (2013). Academic stress among undergraduate students: the case of education faculty at King Saud University. *International Interdisciplinary Journal of Education*, 1(1033), 1-7
- Bayram, N. and Bilgel, N. (2008) The Prevalence and Socio-Demographic Correlations ofDepression, Anxiety and Stress among a Group of University Students. SocialPsychiatry Psychiatric Epidemiology, 43, 667-672
- Bayram, N., & Bilgel, N. (2008). The prevalence and socio-demographic correlations of depression, anxiety and stress among a group of university students. *Social psychiatry and psychiatric epidemiology*, *43*(8), 667-672.
- Berger, B. G., & Owen, D. R. (1992). Mood alteration with yoga and swimming: aerobic exercise may not be necessary. *Perceptual and Motor skills*, 75(3_suppl), 1331-1343.
- Booth, F., Gordon, S., Carlson, C., & Hamilton, M. (2000). Waging war on modern chronic diseases: Primary prevention through exercise biology. *Journal of Applied Physiology*, 88, 774-787.
- Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2006). Using thematic analysis in psychology. *Qualitative research* in psychology, 3(2), 77-101.

- STUDENT'S VIEW OF PHYSICAL EXERCISE ON PSYCHOLOGICAL WELLBEING AND STRESS COPING: A QUALITATIVE STUDY
- Brown, D. R. (1992). Physical activity, aging, and psychological well-being: An overview of the research. *Canadian journal of sport sciences*.
- Camacho, T.C., Roberts, R. E., Lazarus, N. B., Kaplan, G. A., & Cohen, R. D. (1991). Physical activity and depression: Evidence from the Alameda county study. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, 134, 220-231.
- Campbell, F. (2006). Occupational Stress in the Construction Industry, Berkshire, UK: Chartered Institute of Building.
- Carver, C. S., & Connor-Smith, J. (2010). Personality and coping. *Annual review of psychology*, 61, 679-704.
- Chao, R. C. L. (2012). Managing perceived stress among college students: The roles of social support and dysfunctional coping. *Journal of College Counseling*, 15(1), 5-21.
- De Moor, M. H. M., Beem, A. L., Stubbe, J. H., Boomsma, D. I., & De Geus, E. J. C. (2006). Regular exercise, anxiety, depression and personality: a population-based study. *Preventive medicine*, 42(4), 273-279.
- Department of Health, 2005. Choosing Activity: A Physical Activity Action Plan. Stationery Office, London.
- Department of Health, 2010. Healthy Lives, Healthy People: Our Strategy for Public Health in England. Stationery Office, London
- Dogan, T. (2012). A long-term study of the counseling needs of Turkish university students. *Journal of Counseling and Development : JCD*, 90(1), 91-96.
- Edgar, L., Rosberger, Z., & Collet, J. P. (2001). Lessons learned: Outcomes and methodology of a coping skills intervention trial comparing individual and group formats for patients with cancer. *The International Journal of Psychiatry in Medicine*, *31*(3), 289-304.

- STUDENT'S VIEW OF PHYSICAL EXERCISE ON PSYCHOLOGICAL WELLBEING AND STRESS COPING: A QUALITATIVE STUDY
- Elsawy, B., & Higgins, K. E. (2010). Physical activity guidelines for older adults. *American family physician*, 81(1), 55-59.
- Fergus, S., & Zimmerman, M. A. (2005). Adolescent resilience: A framework for understanding healthy development in the face of risk. *Annu. Rev. Public Health*, 26, 399-419.
- Edward, S. (2006) Physical Exercise and Psychological Well-Being. South African Journal of Psychology, 36, 357-373
- Gerber, M., Brand, S., Herrmann, C., Colledge, F., Holsboer-Trachsler, E., & Pühse, U. (2014). Increased objectively assessed vigorous-intensity exercise is associated with reduced stress, increased mental health and good objective and subjective sleep in young adults. *Physiology & behavior*, 135, 17-24.
- Ghazavi, Z., Mardany, Z., & Pahlavanzadeh, S. (2016). Effect of happiness educational program on the level of stress, anxiety and depression of the cancer patients' nurses. *Iranian journal of nursing and midwifery research*, 21(5), 534.
- Gustems-Carnicer, J., & Calderón, C. (2013). Coping strategies and psychological well-being among teacher education students. *European Journal of Psychology of Education*, 28(4), 1127-1140.
- Halkos, G., & Bousinakis, D. (2010). The effect of stress and satisfaction on productivity. *International Journal of Productivity and Performance Management*.
- Happell, B., Reid-Searl, K., Dwyer, T., Caperchione, C. M., Gaskin, C. J., & Burke, K. J. (2013). How nurses cope with occupational stress outside their workplaces. *Collegian*, 20(3), 195-199
- Hassmen, P., Koivula, N., & Uutela, A. (2000). Physical exercise and psychological wellbeing: a population study in Finland. *Preventive medicine*, *30*(1), 17-25.

- Herman, J. L., & Tetrick, L. E. (2009). Problem-focused versus emotion-focused coping strategies and repatriation adjustment. *Human Resource Management: Published in Cooperation with the School of Business Administration, The University of Michigan and in alliance with the Society of Human Resources Management*, 48(1), 69-88.
- Hirose, K., Hamajima, N., Takezaki, T., Miura, S., & Tajima, K. (2003). Physical exercise reduces risk of breast cancer in Japanese women. *Cancer science*, *94*(2), 193-199.
- Ibrahim, A. K., Kelly, S. J., Adams, C. E., & Glazebrook, C. (2013). A systematic review of studies of depression prevalence in university students. *Journal of psychiatric* research, 47(3), 391-400.
- Ingledew, D. K., & McDonagh, G. (1998). What coping functions are served when health behaviours are used as coping strategies?. *Journal of Health Psychology*, 3(2), 195-213.
- Jones, M. C., & Johnston, D. W. (2000). Reducing distress in first level and student nurses: a review of the applied stress management literature. *Journal of advanced* nursing, 32(1), 66-74.
- Kalak, N., Gerber, M., Kirov, R., Mikoteit, T., Yordanova, J., Pühse, U., ... & Brand, S. (2012). Daily morning running for 3 weeks improved sleep and psychological functioning in healthy adolescents compared with controls. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, *51*(6), 615-622.
- Khan, Z., Lanin, A. B., & Ahmad, N. (2015). The Level of Stress in Male and Female School Students Journal of Education and Practice, 6(13), 166-168.
- Khazaee-Pool, M., Sadeghi, R., Majlessi, F., & Rahimi Foroushani, A. (2015). Effects of physical exercise programme on happiness among older people. *Journal of psychiatric and mental health nursing*, 22(1), 47-57.

- STUDENT'S VIEW OF PHYSICAL EXERCISE ON PSYCHOLOGICAL WELLBEING AND STRESS COPING: A QUALITATIVE STUDY
- Kim, J. H., & McKenzie, L. A. (2014). The impacts of physical exercise on stress coping and well-being in university students in the context of leisure. *Health*, 6(19), 2570.
- Kitzrow, M. A. (2009). The mental health needs of today's college students: Challenges and recommendations. *NASPA Journal*, *46*(4), 646-660.
- Lazarus, R. S., & Folkman, S. (1984). Stress, appraisal, and coping. New York: Springer Publishing Company.
- McKinney, J., Lithwick, D. J., Morrison, B. N., Nazzari, H., Isserow, S. H., Heilbron, B., & Krahn, A. D. (2016). The health benefits of physical activity and cardiorespiratory fitness. *British Columbia Medical Journal*, *58*(3), 131-137.
- Matud, M. P. (2004). Gender differences in stress and coping styles. Personality and Individual Differences, 37(7), 1401-1415. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2004.01.010
- Medvedev, O. N., & Landhuis, C. E. (2018). Exploring constructs of well-being, happiness and quality of life. *PeerJ*, 6, e4903.
- Miller, K. E., & Hoffman, J. H. (2009). Mental well-being and sport-related identities in college students. *Sociology of sport journal*, 26(2), 335-356.
- Misra, R., & Mckean, M. (2000). College students'academic stress and its relation to their anxiety, time management, and leisure satisfaction. American journal of health studies, 16(1), 41-51.
- Nolan, V. T., Sandada, M., & Surujlal, J. (2011). Perceived benefits and barriers to physical exercise participation of first year university students. *African Journal for Physical Health Education, Recreation and Dance*, *17*(Supplement 2), 56-69.
- Norris, R., Carroll, D. and Cochrane, R. (1992) The Effect of Physical Activity and Exercise Training on Psychological Stress and Well-Being in an Adolescent Population.

 Journal of Psychosomatic Research, 36, 55-65.

- STUDENT'S VIEW OF PHYSICAL EXERCISE ON PSYCHOLOGICAL WELLBEING AND STRESS COPING: A QUALITATIVE STUDY
- Paillard, T., Rolland, Y., & de Souto Barreto, P. (2015). Protective effects of physical exercise in Alzheimer's disease and Parkinson's disease: a narrative review. *Journal of clinical neurology*, 11(3), 212-219.
- Plante, T. G., Cage, C., Clements, S., & Stover, A. (2006). Psychological benefits of exercise paired with virtual reality: Outdoor exercise energizes whereas indoor virtual exercise relaxes. *International Journal of Stress Management*, 13(1), 108.
- Raedeke, T.D (2007). The relationship between enjoyment and affective responses to exercise. Journal of Applied Sport Psychology, 19(1): 105-115.
- Razon, S., & Sachs, M. L. (Eds.). (2017). Applied Exercise Psychology: The Challenging

 Journey from Motivation to Adherence. Routledge.
- Ross, S. E., Niebling, B. C., & Heckert, T. M. (1999). Sources of Stress among College Students College Student Journal, 33(2).
- Scully, D., Kremer, J., Meade, M.M., Graham, R., & Dudgeon, K. (1998). Physical exercise and psychological well-being: A critical review. British Journal of Sports Medicine, 32, 111–120
- Sinyor, D., Schwartz, S.G., Peronnet, F., Brisson, G., & Seraganian, P. (1983). Aerobic fitness level and reactivity to psychosocial stress: Physiological, biochemical and subjective measures. Psychosomatic Medicine, 45 (3), 205–217.
- Standage, M., Gillison, F. B., Ntoumanis, N., & Treasure, D. C. (2012). Predicting students' physical activity and health-related well-being: A prospective cross-domain investigation of motivation across school physical education and exercise settings. *Journal of Sport and Exercise Psychology*, 34(1), 37-60.
- Stanley N, Manthorpe J (2001) Responding to students' mental health needs: impermeable systems and diverse users. J Ment Health 10(1):41–52

- STUDENT'S VIEW OF PHYSICAL EXERCISE ON PSYCHOLOGICAL WELLBEING AND STRESS COPING: A QUALITATIVE STUDY
- Stubbe, J. H., de Moor, M. H., Boomsma, D. I., & de Geus, E. J. (2007). The association between exercise participation and well-being: a co-twin study. *Preventive medicine*, 44(2), 148-152
- Stults-Kolehmainen, M. A., & Sinha, R. (2014). The effects of stress on physical activity and exercise. *Sports medicine*, 44(1), 81-121.
- Teahan, J. E. (1987). Alcohol expectancies, values, and drinking of Irish and US collegians. *International journal of the addictions*, 22(7), 621-638.
- Torres, C., Otero, P., Bustamante, B., Blanco, V., Díaz, O., & Vázquez, F. (2017). Mental health problems and related factors in ecuadorian college students. *International journal of environmental research and public health*, *14*(5), 530.
- Tyson, P., Wilson, K., Crone, D., Brailsford, R., & Laws, K. (2010). Physical activity and mental health in a student population. *Journal of mental health*, 19(6), 492-499.
- Salmon, P. (2001). Effects of physical exercise on anxiety, depression, and sensitivity to stress: a unifying theory. *Clinical psychology review*, 21(1), 33-61.
- Van Dyck, D., Teychenne, M., McNaughton, S. A., De Bourdeaudhuij, I., & Salmon, J. (2015). Relationship of the perceived social and physical environment with mental health-related quality of life in middle-aged and older adults: mediating effects of physical activity. *PloS one*, *10*(3), e0120475.
- World Health Organisation, 2005. Promoting Mental Health. World Health Organization, Geneva.

Appendix 1

Interview Schedule

How often do you exercise?

do you think your life has changed since you started exercising regularly in terms of psychological well-being?

What are your main feelings and emotions associated with exercise?

Do you think that exercise provides a positive aspect in developing and maintaining your self-esteem?

Previous studies suggest that physical exercise improves individual's wellbeing and reduces stress, do you find this to be truthful at all on personal level?

Time in college can be very stressful, especially weeks of college exams, do you still prioritise exercising frequently?

If you were to stop exercising tomorrow, do you think your psychological wellbeing would be negatively affected at all? If so, how?

What emotions do you feel if you don't exercise for prolonged period of time?

Do you have a regularly scheduled exercise routine? Why?

Have you noticed any differences in your stress levels since you started exercising?

Emotionally, do you feel in anyway empowered when exercising?

Appendix 2

Theme	Subtheme
Improved psychological wellbeing	Increased confidence
	Boost of energy
	A sense of accomplishment
	Alone time
	Higher productivity
	Improved memory ad thinking skills
	Life satisfaction.
Reduced psychological distress	Reduction of stress
	Reduction of anxiety and depression Re-
	duced fear of being ill

Table 1. Emergent themes and sub-themes based on analysis of open-ended responses